


When Garabandal awoke on the 19th of June,
one topic monopolized all the conversations

in the kitchens(1) and on the streets.

You haven't heard? . . .  What they saw? . . .
Yes, that's what they said; but you'll have to find
out for yourself! . . .  Anyhow, something strange
must have happened to the children because . . .
What happened? . . .  I am going to ask María
and Aniceta . . .

What WWould AAn AAngel
Be DDoing iin GGarabandal?

WWhheenn wwee ggoott uupp,, tthhee ppeeooppllee hhaadd bbeegguunn
ttoo ttaallkk::

——TThhoossee ffoouurr ggiirrllss ssaaww ssoommeetthhiinngg
ssiinnccee tthheeyy ccaammee ddoowwnn wwiitthh ssuucchh eexx-
pprreessssiioonnss!!

——IItt ccoouulldd hhaavvee bbeeeenn oonnee ooff tthhoossee bbiigg
bbiirrddss,, ssiinnccee iitt wwaass ddaarrkk .. .. ..

——OOrr ppeerrhhaappss ssoommee lliittttllee bbooyy ssuurr-
pprriisseedd tthheemm wwhhiillee tthheeyy .. .. ..

——OOrr tthheeyy wweerree ddrreeaammiinngg .. .. ..
——WWeellll,, eevveerryyoonnee hhaadd hhiiss oowwnn iiddeeaa

aabboouutt tthhee tthhiinngg..
IItt wwaass aa ddaayy iinn wwhhiicchh tthheeyy ttaallkkeedd

aabboouutt nnootthhiinngg eellssee..

Not surprising!  Nothing like it had ever hap-
pened at San Sebastián de Garabandal.  While the
people there were used to thinking about God,
they never would have thought that they would
come in contact with Him beyond His mysterious
veil—on a streetcorner!  Every Sunday, while
reciting the Credo at Mass, they alleged their be-
lief in an all powerful God Who had created not
only the world of visible things, but also another
world of invisible ones. But how could anyone
expect something that had never happened  before
to happen suddenly now?  How could they com-
prehend that four children of their village were
able to view the light of His invisible world?

1.  In villages and towns like Garabandal, the kitchen is the
most utilized room in the home; here visitors are received,
here the entire family congregates.  During the winter months
this is especially the place for talking or working.

If what the girls said were true, it could have
the most unexpected consequences for everyone . . .

TThheeyy aasskkeedd uuss ttoo ddeessccrriibbee wwhhaatt wwee
hhaadd sseeeenn..

AAnndd vveerryy hhaappppyy wwiitthh tthhee bbeeaauuttiiffuull
ffiigguurree,, wwee wweerree ggllaadd ttoo tteellll tthheemm,, ssiinnccee
tthheerree wweerree ssoommee ppeeooppllee wwhhoo ddoouubbtteedd
tthhaatt iitt wwaass ttrruuee..

WWee ttoolldd hhooww hhee wwaass,, hhooww hhee wwaass
ddrreesssseedd,, vveerryy bbrriilllliiaanntt .. .. ..

MMoosstt ooff tthhee ppeeooppllee llaauugghheedd aatt uuss;; bbuutt iitt
wwaass aallll tthhee ssaammee ttoo uuss bbeeccaauussee wwee kknneeww iitt
wwaass ttrruuee..

As the young girl described, the conversations
were animated in the early hours of the morning.
And the girls could hear the people talking as
they walked to school,(2) where the doors opened
at 10 o'clock.

WWhheenn wwee aarrrriivveedd aatt tthhee sscchhooooll,, tthhee
sscchhoooollmmiissttrreessss aasskkeedd uuss,, MMyy cchhiillddrreenn aarree
yyoouu cceerrttaaiinn aabboouutt tthhee tthhiinnggss yyoouu ssaaiidd
yyeesstteerrddaayy??

WWee aannsswweerreedd ttooggeetthheerr::  YYeess,, SSeeññoorraa..
WWee ssaaww aann AAnnggeell!!

TThhee ootthheerr cchhiillddrreenn ffrroomm tthhee sscchhooooll
wwhhoo ssuurrrroouunnddeedd uuss wweerree aammaazzeedd aatt wwhhaatt
wwee wweerree ssaayyiinngg..

I can imagine that there was great excitement
among the other young girls accustomed to the
monotony of their day to day life.  Who would not
envy their four schoolmates?  Of, if they could be
part of such a thrilling thing too!

It is doubtful that there was much studying
done on that morning in the young girls' school at
Garabandal.  However, Conchita writes, WWee
aacctteedd tthhee ssaammee aass aallwwaayyss,, uunnddiissttuurrbbeedd.. If
tranquility resulted in them from the apparitions,
it should be recognized that this is a sign it had a
good origin.  Neither the devil, neuroses, nor hal-
lucinations leave peace.

WWhheenn wwee lleefftt sscchhooooll (a little before dinner
hour), eeaacchh oonnee wweenntt ttoo hhiiss oowwnn hhoommee..

2.  The schoolhouse is not in the center of the village, but on
the perimeter near the church.
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JJaacciinnttaa aanndd MMaarrii CCrruuzz wweenntt ttooggeetthheerr
aanndd mmeett tthhee ppaarriisshh pprriieesstt,, FFaatthheerr VVaalleennttíínn
MMaarriicchhaallaarr..(3)

——VVeerryy aallaarrmmeedd,, hhee ssaaiidd ttoo tthheemm:: LLooookk
hheerree,, llooookk hheerree!!  IIss iitt ttrruuee tthhaatt yyoouu ssaaww
aann aannggeell??

——TThheeyy aannsswweerreedd ttooggeetthheerr:: YYeess FFaatthheerr,,
iitt''ss ttrruuee..

——PPeerrhhaappss .. .. ..  PPeerrhhaappss yyoouu mmaayy bbee
mmiissttaakkeenn..

——SSmmiilliinngg tthheeyy ssaaiidd ttoo hhiimm::  NNoo..  DDoonn''tt
bbee aaffrraaiidd tthhaatt wwee ssaaww aann AAnnggeell..(4)

3.  Father Valentín resided in Cossío where he was the
parish priest, but he had to go up to San Sebastián frequently
since he was also in charge of that parish.

4.  Although Father Valentín did not hold the same feelings
as the old Israelites for whom it was impossible to see an angel
of Yahweh, and not die, he certainly could not exclude the
possibility of an angel’s supernatural intervention in the vil-
lage.  What consequences that could cause!

TThheenn tthheeyy wweenntt ttoowwaarrdd tthheeiirr hhoommeess..
TThhee ppaarriisshh pprriieesstt wwaallkkeedd aarroouunndd ttoo sseeee

wwhheerree hhee ccoouulldd ffiinndd mmee..
FFiinnddiinngg mmee nneeaarr mmyy hhoommee,,(5) hhee bbee-

ccaammee vveerryy nneerrvvoouuss aanndd ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,,
CCoonncchhiittaa,, bbee hhoonneesstt..  WWhhaatt ddiidd yyoouu sseeee
llaasstt nniigghhtt??

II eexxppllaaiinneedd eevveerryytthhiinngg ttoo hhiimm .. .. ..  aanndd hhee
lliisstteenneedd vveerryy cclloosseellyy,, aanndd ffiinnaallllyy ssaaiidd ttoo mmee::

WWeellll,, iiff yyoouu sseeee hhiimm ttoonniigghhtt,, aasskk hhiimm
wwhhoo hhee iiss aanndd wwhhyy hhee iiss ccoommiinngg..

SSeeee wwhhaatt hhee aannsswweerrss..

The priest's reaction was perfectly logical.  He 

5.  Conchita’s house was at the extreme edge of the village,
directly opposite the church and school, with a view upwards
towards the Pines and downwards toward the valley where the
Molinos River flowed.

Fr. Valentín with visionaries
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knew that what the girls said was completely
possible.  God concerns himself deeply with His
human creatures, especially within the church.
Although His concern comes to fall almost always
within what we call ordinary providence (that is,
without recourse to spectacular intervention),
there is no difficulty for Him to go beyond the
ordinary when it suits His pleasure and is helpful
to His creatures.  And the angels are His ministers
above all to protect and aid mankind.  Father
Valentín could not have forgotten those beautiful
texts from the liturgy of October 2nd that set down
so highly the ministry of the angels on our behalf.

Yes, what the girls say is very possible, although
not so easy to believe.  Why would an angel come to
Garabandal?  And did he really come?  That was
the most important: to establish the truth of the
matter.  It would be just as foolish to believe every-
thing right away as to close one's mind in an ob-
stinate It cannot be. Father Valentín had to know
the first lines of the last book of scripture: The RRev-
elation oof JJesus CChrist, wwhich GGod ggave uunto hhim, tto mmake kknown
to HHis sservants tthe tthings wwhich mmust sshortly ccome tto ppass: aand
signified, ssending hhis aangel tto HHis sservant JJohn. (Apocalypse 1: 1)
He must have read too that passage from the book
of Exodus: (23: 20-21) Behold II wwill ssend mmy aangel wwho sshall ggo
before yyou, aand kkeep yyou iin yyour jjourney, aand bbring yyou iinto tthe
place tthat II hhave pprepared.  TTake nnotice oof hhim aand hhear hhis vvoice.

The girls were talking about remarkable
things; however Father Valentín knew them well,
and it did not enter his mind that they invented
this.  Before anything else, he had to find out
what had happened.

Conchita promised that she would try to get
the answer to his two questions.  Then he directed
his footsteps to Loli's home.(6)

LLoollii rreessppoonnddeedd tthhee ssaammee aass tthhee rreesstt
ooff uuss..

AAnndd ssoo hhee wwaass mmoorree aanndd mmoorree iimm-
pprreesssseedd bbeeccaauussee tthhee ffoouurr ooff uuss aaggrreeeedd
iinn eevveerryytthhiinngg..(7)

6.  This was a typical ancient village house, looking out over
a little square.  Later the Mazón family moved into the house
next door which also faced the little square; here their small
business was continued.

7.  Through a careful interrogation, conducted separately on
each girl, it would have been impossible to find such  agreement
if all this had been only a game, and even less would there  

FFiinnaallllyy hhee ssaaiidd::  GGoooodd,, wwee aarree ggooiinngg ttoo
wwaaiitt ttwwoo oorr tthhrreeee ddaayyss ttoo sseeee wwhhaatt hhee
wwiillll tteellll yyoouu aanndd wwhheetthheerr yyoouu aarree ggooiinngg
ttoo ccoonnttiinnuuee ttoo sseeee tthhiiss ffiigguurree tthhaatt yyoouu ccaallll
aann AAnnggeell .. .. ..

TThheenn II wwiillll ggoo ttoo tthhee BBiisshhoopp..(8)

The girls ate, probably in a hurry as is the
custom in the village, and with no more ceremony
than to say grace.  Then they went back to school
which re-opened at 3 o'clock.

Toward 5:00 the classes finished and the girls
were free to play or do their housework.

II wweenntt ttoo tthhee hhoouussee ooff tthhee wwoommaann ffrroomm
wwhhoomm wwee bbuuyy mmiillkk,, aanndd sshhee ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,, IIss
iitt ttrruuee tthhaatt yyoouu ssaaww aann AAnnggeell??  OOrr iiss tthhiiss
aa tthhiinngg tthhaatt tthhee ppeeooppllee aarree ssaayyiinngg??

have been agreement if these things had been staged or fab-
ricated by the girls.  Furthermore, Father Valentín knew them
well, and was aware of their sincerity and great reverence for
everything religious.

8.  At this time, Bishop Doroteo Fernández, the former
auxiliary bishop under the recently deceased Bishop José
Eguino y Trecu, was the head of the diocese of Santander.
Bishop Doroteo had been born in León and was a professor at
the major seminary there where he was named the Apostolic
Administrator for the Santander Diocese.  Certainly neither
his assignment nor his arrival in the Capital of Santander
could be called warm among influential ecclesiastics.  In spite
of the fact that he had the rank of a bishop, he was placed
somewhat out of the way, with his actions limited to being
rector of the seminary of Corbán, not far from Santander.
Here after a few years the situation was in turmoil; these were
the first advance signs of what later would become the general
open confusion in the Church.

Loli in her home
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——II aannsswweerreedd,, IItt''ss cceerrttaaiinn tthhaatt wwee ssaaww
aann AAnnggeell!!

——SShhee ccoonnttiinnuueedd ttoo qquueessttiioonn mmee,, HHooww
ddiidd yyoouu sseeee hhiimm??

——II eexxppllaaiinneedd iitt ttoo hheerr iinn ssuucchh aa wwaayy
tthhaatt sshhee lliisstteenneedd vveerryy cclloosseellyy..

——AAnndd tthheenn ssmmiilliinngg,, sshhee ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,,
SSiinnccee II hhaavvee aa ggoooodd ooppiinniioonn ooff yyoouu,, II
bbeelliieevvee tthhaatt yyoouu ssaaww tthhee AAnnggeell..  BBuutt tthhee
ootthheerrss::  NNoo!!

——TThheenn II ssaaiidd ttoo hheerr,, BBuutt aallll ffoouurr ooff uuss
ssaaww hhiimm —— LLoollii,, JJaacciinnttaa,, MMaarrii CCrruuzz aanndd
II mmyysseellff!!

WWhheenn II ccaammee hhoommee wwiitthh tthhee mmiillkk,, II
ssaaiidd ttoo mmyy mmootthheerr,, MMaammaa,, II''mm ggooiinngg ttoo
pprraayy iinn tthhee CCaalllleejjaa..

TThhiiss wwaass hheeaarrdd bbyy aa ssttoonneemmaassoonn
nnaammeedd PPeeppee DDííeezz,,(9) wwhhoo wwaass tthheerree wwoorrkk-
iinngg ttoo rreeppaaiirr oouurr hhoouussee,, aanndd aallssoo bbyy mmyy
bbrrootthheerr AAnniicceettoo,, wwhhoo wwaass hheellppiinngg hhiimm..

——TThheenn PPeeppee ssaaiidd llaauugghhiinngg:: YYeess,, YYeess,,
lleett hheerr ggoo.. WWhhyy nnoott lleett hheerr ggoo pprraayy??

——MMyy bbrrootthheerr oobbjjeecctteedd ttoo tthhiiss:: CCoonn-
cchhiittaa,, ddoonn''tt lleett iitt hhaappppeenn!!

9.  This man is worked as a stonemason in the village; he is
one of the best informed witnesses of the Garabandal events.
His wife is Clementina González, from whom he had four
children at the time.

Conchita wrote these things in her diary more than a year
after they happened.  And perhaps, as they were side-lights to
the really important events, she did not record them accurately.

Concerning the conversation with the stonemason Pepe
Díez, we have information from his wife Clementina which
complements and enlarges on what Conchita gives.  Clemen-
tina states that on that day Pepe tried to prevent the girls from
what could have been a dangerous episode by threatening
them . . .  He spoke to Conchita in this manner:

Listen, child, what kind of tale are you telling about the
apparition of an angel?  Don’t you know how serious this
is?  . . .  Don’t go on with this foolishness.

If you continue with this, I’ll report it to the police, and
they’ll come, take statements, and submit you to question-
ing . . .  And you might end up in jail . . .  And the trouble
might involve your families . . .  Embarrassment . . .
Shame . . .  Disgrace . . .  You are not the type of girl that
plays around with such things . . .

Then in a similar tone, in a way to intimidate them, he
spoke to the other three girls when they came looking for
Conchita.  They listened, a little frightened, but didn’t reply.
Finally they said what they were going to do, and that they had
not made up anything.  And could they be allowed to go in case
the Angel came back?

TThhee ppeeooppllee wwiillll llaauugghh aatt yyoouu aanndd aatt
uuss ttoooo..

TThheeyy wwiillll ssaayy tthhaatt yyoouu aarree ggooiinngg
aarroouunndd ssaayyiinngg tthhaatt yyoouu aarree sseeeeiinngg aann
AAnnggeell..

AAnndd tthhaatt yyoouu aarree llyyiinngg..

But the desire of meeting the marvelous ap-
parition again attracted the girl too much, and she
did not leave her mother in peace until she ob-
tained permission to go to the calleja.

Soon she met the other three, and joining arms,
they went in the direction of the calleja.  They
encountered an unbelieving and hostile crowd that
questioned them and made jokes about them, since
no one believed in the apparition; or rather no one
wanted to expose himself to ridicule before the
more sophisticated villagers by showing any belief
in the strange story of the four little girls.(10)

10.  The population of La Montaña (Santander) are in-
telligent by nature and not easily taken in.  They are serious
people, hardly naïve, and cautious to the extreme in not being
taken advantage of in business or in assuming a stance that
would have to be abandoned later.

36

Pepe Díez



But people followed them secretly, especially
some rude young boys who wanted to show their
beginning manhood by vulgarly interfering with
the girls.  The four girls began to pray in the
calleja; but it wasn't possible to concentrate on
their prayers because of the little band of ruffians
with disheveled hair and dirty faces, who started
throwing stones at them, accompanying their
missiles with laughs, insults and other words.

It was a dark evening, overcast.  TThhee sskkyy wwaass 
ffuullll ooff cclloouuddss aanndd iitt wwaass vveerryy wwiinnddyy..

Things finally quieted down and the girls pro-
longed their prayer, hoping to see the Angel come.
But the Angel did not come.  The calleja, which a
little while later would be for them aa lliittttllee bbiitt ooff
hheeaavveenn (as Conchita referred to it) was on the
evening of June 19th, under a cloudy sky, with the
derisive laughter, the stones, and the blowing wind
above, an unpleasant scene of painful disillusion.

Why didn't the Angel come?  Would he perhaps
come at another time?

WWhheenn iitt bbeeccaammee llaattee — it was 8:30 — they
lifted their bare knees off the stones of the rocky
road, and went down toward the church.

Before arriving there, they met the school-
mistress.  She tried to raise their spirits with a child-

ish explanation that they probably did not believe at
the time:

DDoo yyoouu kknnooww wwhhyy hhee hhaassnn''tt ccoommee??
SSuurreellyy iitt''ss bbeeccaauussee iitt''ss ssoo cclloouuddyy..

In the church they made a visit to the Bles-
sed Sacrament.

The girls themselves could not explain the un-
usual connection that seemed to unite the calleja
with the church.  In the calleja nothing had been
said to them, not a word of explanation, nor a com-
mand, nor even a simple request, and they were
uneducated children; but a mysterious instinct
brought them from the one place to the other.  Yes,
what they had seen with their eyes of flesh, sur-
rounded by light in the calleja, had guided them
firmly and gently to the One there in the church,
Who can only be found with the eyes of faith amid
the shadows of mystery.  In the former place was the
wonder of the vision, within the latter was the true
security of Him Who is always a Refuge, Who
cannot deceive.

A LLight iin tthe WWay
After their visit to the Blessed Sacrament, the

girls walked home. As night fell over Garabandal,
darkness fell over the spirits of the four little
peasant girls.

As soon as her daughter appeared in the kitchen,
Aniceta asked: DDiidd yyoouu sseeee tthhee AAnnggeell??

The same question must have been heard in
the homes of the other three; and the answers
must have all been the same as Conchita's re-
sponse to her mother:

NNoo..  TTooddaayy wwee ddiiddnn''tt sseeee hhiimm!!
TThheenn II wweenntt aabboouutt mmyy wwoorrkk aass uussuuaall..

Yes, wwoorrkk aass uussuuaall was what remained.  As if
the day before had been no more than a mean-
ingless flash of light in the somber life of a village
child.  Everything would be forgotten little by
little, and finally there would only remain the
dismal monotony of her poor daily surroundings
and wwoorrkk aass uussuuaall..

No wonder that after supper as she went to bed
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aatt aa qquuaarrtteerr ttoo tteenn she was not able to sleep.
Her adolescent mild was filled with dejection:

SSiinnccee II ccoouullddnn''tt sslleeeepp,, II ssttaarrtteedd ttoo pprraayy..
AAnndd tthheenn II hheeaarrdd aa vvooiiccee tthhaatt ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,,

DDoonn''tt bbee ttrroouubblleedd;; yyoouu wwiillll sseeee mmee aaggaaiinn..

The voice left a deep impression and Conchita
continued praying, although with a much different
state of mind.  She went on praying ffoorr aa lloonngg
ttiimmee until finally she fell asleep.  And so with a
finale of prayer the day of June 19th, 1961 ended; a
day of excitement in Garabandal, full of contrasting
feelings and contrasting words, varying between
hope and fear, between disbelief and desire.

On the next day, Tuesday, the village attitude
was about the same, although the number of sus-
picious and hostile comments was increasing.

SSiinnccee wwee hhaaddnn''tt sseeeenn aannyytthhiinngg oonn JJuunnee
1199tthh,, tthheeyy tthhoouugghhtt tthhaatt hhee wwoouullddnn''tt aapp-
ppeeaarr ttoo uuss aaggaaiinn..

BBuutt tthheeyy ddiiddnn''tt kknnooww wwhhaatt hhaadd hhaapp-
ppeenneedd ttoo uuss dduurriinngg tthhee nniigghhtt —— wwhhaatt wwee
hhaaddnn''tt ttoolldd aannyyoonnee..

While going to school Conchita learned that
during the night her three companions had re-
ceived the same assurance as she, YYoouu wwiillll sseeee
mmee aaggaaiinn..  And so they were full of secret joy
and predisposed to face the various incidents of
the day.

The day passed like all the others, without
anything worthy of special mention, until the mid-
afternoon hour came when the children, having
left the classroom, asked for their lunches.(11) The
four visionaries, besides asking for their lunches,
also asked with much more insistence for a special
permission—to go together to pray in the Calleja.

But they ran into difficulties.

MMyy mmootthheerr,, aanndd aallssoo tthhee ppaarreennttss,,
bbrrootthheerrss,, aanndd ssiisstteerrss ooff tthhee ootthheerr ggiirrllss
wweerree wwoorrrriieedd..

TThheeyy hhaadd aa vveerryy ggrreeaatt ccoonnfflliicctt,, ffoorr iiff

11.  The lunches taken in the afternoon almost always
consisted of bread and something to go with it.  The children
did not ordinarily stay home to eat.  They came home, asked
for lunch, got it, and went back to eat with their schoolmates.

tthheeyy lleeaanneedd ttoo wwhhaatt wwaass ttrruuee,, tthheeyy aallssoo
tthhoouugghhtt tthhee ooppppoossiittee..

And there was above all the burden of human
respect, the fear of being ridiculous that is so con-
straining in the small towns.

At first Aniceta showed herself completely in-
tractable.

IIff yyoouu wwaanntt ttoo pprraayy,, ggoo ttoo tthhee cchhuurrcchh;;
tthhee ccaalllleejjaa iissnn''tt tthhee ppllaaccee..

Conchita implored, but without result.  Fortu-
nately Loli, Jacinta, and Mari Cruz then arrived,
and they had already obtained permission to go.

——PPlleeaassee,, SSeeññoorraa..  LLeett CCoonncchhiittaa ggoo..
LLeett hheerr ggoo!!

——BBuutt wwhhyy ddoo yyoouu wwaanntt ttoo ggoo mmaakkee
ffoooollss ooff yyoouurrsseellvveess??

——WWee aarreenn''tt ggooiinngg ttoo mmaakkee ffoooollss ooff
oouurrsseellvveess!!  WWee aarree ggooiinngg ttoo pprraayy,, aanndd ttoo
sseeee iiff tthhee AAnnggeell ccoommeess!!

——NNoo..  CCoonncchhiittaa iissnn''tt ggooiinngg..  YYoouu ccaann
ggoo iiff yyoouu wwaanntt..

TThheeyy lleefftt,, bbuutt vveerryy sslloowwllyy,, uunnttiill tthheeyy nnoo
lloonnggeerr ccoouulldd bbee sseeeenn bbeeccaauussee ooff aa wwaallll iinn
tthhee wwaayy..

II rreemmaaiinneedd,, vveerryy ssaadd..
MMyy mmootthheerr ssuuddddeennllyy cchhaannggeedd hheerr

mmiinndd,, aanndd wwiitthh aa lloouudd vvooiiccee ccaalllleedd:: LLoollii..
TTeellll tthhee ootthheerr ggiirrllss ttoo ccoommee hheerree..

SSoooonn tthheeyy aarrrriivveedd,, aanndd mmyy mmootthheerr ssaaiidd
ttoo tthheemm,, IIff yyoouu ddoo wwhhaatt II tteellll yyoouu,, II''llll lleett
CCoonncchhiittaa ggoo..

A simple strategy had occurred to Aniceta to
protect herself from insult and ridicule in case
things did not come out as the girls expected:

YYoouu tthhrreeee ggoo aalloonnee nnooww,, aass iiff yyoouu
wweerree ggooiinngg ttoo ppllaayy tthheerree,, wwiitthhoouutt ssaayyiinngg
aannyytthhiinngg ttoo aannyyoonnee..

AAnndd wwhheenn yyoouu aarrrriivvee aatt tthhee ccaalllleejjaa,,
CCoonncchhiittaa wwiillll ggoo sseeccrreettllyy,, ssoo tthhaatt nnoo oonnee
wwiillll nnoottiiccee..

Loli, Jacinta, and Mari Cruz were not very
convinced, afraid that Aniceta was not speaking
seriously.  But they began to walk . . .  slower  and
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slower.  Conchita had to reassure them that she
would come.  And a little later she did come.  She
found them complaining about her being late.  But
their displeasure soon passed and the four, vveerryy
hhaappppyy, knelt down on the rocks of the calleja and
began to recite the rosary.  Very hopeful in the
beginning, their anxiety increased as the beads
passed through their fingers.

WWhheenn tthheeyy hhaadd ffiinniisshheedd,, tthhee AAnnggeell hhaadd
nnoott ccoommee..(12)

WWee ddeecciiddeedd ttoo ggoo ttoo tthhee cchhuurrcchh..
AAnndd wwhheenn wwee ggoott uupp,, ssiinnccee wwee wweerree oonn

oouurr kknneeeess,, wwee ssaaww aa vveerryy bbrriilllliiaanntt lliigghhtt
ssuurrrroouunnddiinngg tthhee ffoouurr ooff uuss..

WWee ssaaww nnootthhiinngg eellssee eexxcceepptt tthhee lliigghhtt..
AAnndd wwee ssccrreeaammeedd wwiitthh ffeeaarr..

The light, though blinding, did not blind them;
but it encircled them resplendently, isolated them
from everything, and blacked out the road. From

12.  In Conchita’s diary the AAnnggeell is always written in
capitals, so as to make it understood that she is discussing a
very important and distinguished angel.

this came a sensation of constriction——ffeeaarr——that
left them lost and floating in mystery, adrift in
something completely unknown that they could
not comprehend.(13)

The second day, Monday the 19th, they were
made to pass through the experience of, It iis nnot hhe
who wwishes oor hhe wwho rruns. (Romans 9: 16) That is to say, it did
not depend mainly on themselves whether or not
this series of miraculous contacts with the Infinite
Unknown would occur.  Everything depended
on Him Who is high above all things.  At the same

13. Prudencio González was one of the residents of the
village who did not take the four girls’ story seriously.  She
laughed at the foolishness that the people were talking so
much about.  But that evening she was coming down the
calleja with a herd of sheep, and suddenly coming out of the
shadows, she had before her eyes the group of four young
girls completely alone and outside of themselves.  The scene
impressed her.

Her sheep were going toward the village, closing off her
path between the rocks that formed the sides of the calleja.  As
well as she could, she slid carefully between two of the girls.
She had to lean on one of the girl’s shoulders and her im-
pression —as she admitted later—was tremendous, as if she
were touching a mystery.  The shoulder did not seem to be soft
warm flesh, but rather something rigid and cold, trembling.

Left to right: Loli, Conchita, Mari Cruz, Jacinta
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time, so that they wouldn't fall into anxious dejec-
tion, He gave them a pledge that what they had
seen on the previous evening was something very
real — with a reason and a meaning — and that it
was only the beginning of something more.

From this they were specially prepared for the
third day, June 20th, with the phenomenon of the
blinding light surrounding them, blacking out the
road and isolating them from everything.  Their
spirit and eyes had to be made ready to pass with
a form of natural agility from the dull world of
day to day living to a higher world of wonders
flooded with brilliance.  In this world of light they
would have to encounter —alone— elements ex-
tremely far above all those things that made up
their daily existence.

For this, even the calleja —the path previously

seen by the four village girls — would be blocked
out by the mystery of the light, revealing a new des-
tiny, at the time well hidden in the secret designs of
God.  So the children's startled reaction of fear can
be understood — and their screams, which seem to
be an unconscious pathetic call for help and ex-
planation.  It is never painless to be brusquely
taken away from one's normal way of living.

The PPeople
Become AAroused

When the four girls found themselves again, as if
nothing had happened, upon the normal ground of

A small monument now marks the site of the Angel’s first appearance.
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the calleja, it was already night ——99::3300—— and so
they did not make their intended visit to the church.

They were hardly able to talk about the effect
on them.  On separating, they agreed not to say
anything to anyone.  For this reason their answers
to their families' questions in their homes were
evasive.  They carried their secret undivulged to
the silence of their beds.

But soon they became aware that they could not
keep it hidden like this.  The request of the parish
priest had to be carried out:  IIff wwee ssaaww ssoommee-
tthhiinngg aaggaaiinn,, wwee sshhoouulldd tteellll hhiimm rriigghhtt aawwaayy..
They wanted to obey.  But how?  He lived in Cossío,
six kilometers down a seldom traveled and treach-
erous road.  OOuurr ppaarreennttss wwoouulldd nnoott lleett uuss ggoo
aalloonnee.. There was no other solution except to re-
veal to their families what had happened; and so
they did, on the morning of June 21st.

This information, strictly confidential, was
passed right away to Fr. Valentín, although some-
thing must have filtered down to him as the day
wore on and the expectation in the village increased.
The first extraordinary phenomenon of the calleja
had not had any witnesses; they had been there

alone, as Conchita said, WWee ffiivvee:: tthhee AAnnggeell,,
LLoollii,, MMaarrii CCrruuzz,, JJaacciinnttaa,, aanndd mmyysseellff.. But
on the evening of Wednesday, June 21st, 1961, for
the first time there would be other observers.

IInn tthhee eevveenniinngg,, aafftteerr hhaavviinngg ddoonnee wwhhaatt
wwee hhaadd ttoo ddoo,, (This is a very important observ-
ation.  Heaven always teaches us to fulfill our duties
since this is the way all order is maintained.) wwee
aasskkeedd ppeerrmmiissssiioonn ffrroomm oouurr ppaarreennttss ttoo ggoo
ttoo tthhee ssaammee ppllaaccee wwhheerree tthhee AAnnggeell hhaadd
aappppeeaarreedd ttoo uuss..

BBuutt wwhhiillee ggooiinngg ttoo tthhee ccaalllleejjaa,, sseeeeiinngg
tthhaatt tthhee ppeeooppllee ddiidd nnoott bbeelliieevvee,, wwee ttoolldd aa
wwoommaann nnaammeedd CClleemmeennttiinnaa GGoonnzzáálleezz tthhaatt
iiff sshhee wwaanntteedd ttoo ccoommee wwiitthh uuss .. .. ..

BBuutt sshhee ddiiddnn''tt wwaanntt ttoo ccoommee aalloonnee
ssiinnccee sshhee hhaadd hheerr ddoouubbttss,, aanndd sshhee wweenntt ttoo
ccaallll aannootthheerr wwoommaann nnaammeedd CCoonncceessaa..

NNoottiicciinngg uuss ggooiinngg ttooggeetthheerr,, ootthheerr
ppeerrssoonnss jjooiinneedd uuss aallssoo,, aanndd aarrrriivviinngg aatt tthhee
ccaalllleejjaa,, wwee bbeeggaann ttoo pprraayy tthhee rroossaarryy..

WWee ffiinniisshheedd iitt,, aanndd tthhee AAnnggeell hhaadd
nnoott ccoommee..

““WWee ffiivvee:: tthhee AAnnggeell,, LLoollii,, MMaarrii CCrruuzz,, JJaacciinnttaa,, aanndd mmyysseellff””
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TThhee ppeeooppllee wweerree llaauugghhiinngg hhaarrdd aanndd
ssaaiidd ttoo uuss,, NNooww ssaayy aa SSttaattiioonn!!

AAnndd ssoo wwee ddiidd,, aanndd oonn eennddiinngg iitt tthhee
AAnnggeell aappppeeaarreedd ttoo uuss..

In their rapture, the girls did not forget the re-
quest of the parish priest:

WWee aasskkeedd hhiimm wwhhoo hhee wwaass aanndd wwhhyy hhee
hhaadd ccoommee..

BBuutt hhee ddiiddnn''tt aannsswweerr uuss..

The works of heaven follow their own cadence
and its mysteries are not ordinarily immediately un-
veiled.  It is necessary to prepare, wait, and merit.

What happened at that time to those who had
come there just to look?  The persons, who on that
night of June were the first to view the girls' ecstatic
transport, were carried away with emotion.  A
strange and sweet trembling seized them.  They
didn't know whether to shout or cry, or whether
they should call for the rest of the villagers.

Weren't the four transfigured girls the same ones
that they knew?  Weren't they just like the other
children of the village?  Weren't they the same ones
who walked around town with the other young girls,
who ran and played every day in the little streets of
San Sebastián?

How they held themselves!  And what expres-
sions on their faces!  Positioned on their knees on
the rocky ground of the trail,(14) their faces turned
upward toward something or someone that held
them enraptured, their lips parted in a slight smile
that gave a charming beauty to their expressions.

Such a limpid look in those eyes!  And how those
eyes gazed at something that no one else could see!
Those present were certain that not even the best
photographs could capture the scene completely.

When the four returned to normal, they saw
with surprise that some of the people around them
were crying and that others were striking their
breasts, and one of them, Clementina, was ready
to run to the village to call all the people there.

14.  Although rocks and stones are scattered all over Gara-
bandal, it is hard to accept the remark in The Star on the
Mountain from one pilgrim who states, This town is the
rockiest in all Spain.

OOhh mmyy cchhiillddrreenn,, eexxccllaaiimmeedd ssoommeeoonnee,,
expressing the feelings of the rest, WWhheenn yyoouu
sseeee tthhee AAnnggeell aaggaaiinn,, tteellll hhiimm ttoo ffoorrggiivvee uuss
ffoorr nnoott bbeelliieevviinngg!!

AA wwoommaann ssaaiidd ttoo mmyy aauunntt (Aurelia) wwhhoo
wwaass aammoonngg tthhee ppeeooppllee::

—DDiidd yyoouu sseeee tthhee AAnnggeell??
—NNoo,, II hhaavveenn''tt sseeeenn hhiimm;; bbuutt iiff yyoouu

ddoonn''tt bbeelliieevvee iinn tthhiiss,, yyoouu ddoonn''tt bbeelliieevvee
iinn GGoodd..

Clementina González gives another version of
this episode.  The discrepancies between her report
and Conchita's can be easily explained, since Con-
chita was only able to learn what happened around
her and her companions during the ecstasy from
what she was told by others later on, while Clemen-
tina González experienced it first hand.  According
to the latter, it happened this way:

She had gone to the schoolmaster's home and
was talking with his wife, Concesa, seated at the en-
trance of the old house.  (The house is no longer
standing, as Conchita's brother built his little hotel
Mesón Serafín on its former site.)  The women saw
the four girls coming, and Conchita came up to
Clementina and asked her to accompany them to a
place in the Calleja where they wanted to pray.  Cle-
mentina agreed and Concesa went with them too.

They started praying with the girls, and only a
little later, on noticing that something was going on
in the Calleja, did other people begin to come, such
as Angelita, Conchita's aunt Aurelia, Clementina's
12-year-old eldest son, etc . . .

Those who had come, moved only by curiosity,
did not take the matter seriously.  Seeing that
nothing was happening in spite of the girls'
prayers, they were talking and laughing . . .  But
the girls' sudden entrance into ecstasy made quite
an impression on them.

They were not able to see the transfigured faces
well as they were in back of the visionaries.  They
wanted to go ahead to look at their faces but Angel-
ita, the first one who tried it, came back trembling as
she felt a mysterious obstacle that ««pprreevveenntteedd hheerr
sstteepp aanndd hheelldd hheerr bbaacckk»».  Then from their positions,
leaning forward and stretching their necks, they
were able to see the sides of some of the girls' faces
and to hear some of their speech . . .
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Clementina soon became very excited by this in-
conceivable spectacle.  And certain that something
was happening there — something from God —
began to speak out like this, ««CCoonncchhiittaa,,  mmyy  cchhiilldd,,
pprraayy  ttoo  OOuurr  LLaaddyy  ooff  MMoouunntt  CCaarrmmeell  ..  ..  ..    PPrraayy  ttoo  tthhee
SSaaccrreedd  HHeeaarrtt  ttoo  hheellpp  uuss  ..  ..  ..    LLeett  tthheemm  tteellll  yyoouu  wwhhaatt
tthheeyy  wwaanntt  ffrroomm  uuss  ..  ..  ..»» She was talking of going to
call a priest — of calling the whole village.  What
could this be?  All of those present did not share her
tremendous excitement, and even continued laugh-
ing.  It was at this time that she, and not Conchita's
aunt, said, ««OOhh  cchhiillddrreenn!!    IIff  yyoouu  ddoonn''tt  bbeelliieevvee  iinn
tthhiiss,,  yyoouu  ddoonn''tt  bbeelliieevvee  iinn  GGoodd..»»

AAllll  tthhoossee  wwhhoo  ssaaww  uuss  wweenntt  ddoowwnn  ttoo  tthhee
vviillllaaggee  tteelllliinngg  eevveerryyoonnee  aabboouutt  iitt,,  ssiinnccee
tthheeyy  wweerree  vveerryy  iimmpprreesssseedd..

FFoorr  tthheeyy  hhaadd  nneevveerr  sseeeenn  oorr  hheeaarrdd  aannyy-
tthhiinngg  lliikkee  iitt..(15)

15.  It can be easily understood what upset and upheaval
came upon the good people of Garabandal as a result of the
things happening in the village.  Mari Cruz’s mother, Pilar, il-
lustrated this in her conversation recorded on the occasion
already mentioned:

It can be imagined how the news spread through
the village, and what was talked about in the houses
on that night in June, a night of grace.

"Everything  Seems  To  Be
Coming  from  God"

Of course the news came quickly to Fr. Valentín.
And not only to Fr. Valentín.  The chief of police,
Juan A. Seco, wrote in his memoirs:

«When  I  saw  my  daughter  for  the  first  tine  in  that  way
(in  ecstasy),  I  was  very  frightened.    I  thought  she  was  having
an  attack.    I  point  out  that  I  had  never  heard  talk  of  appar-
itions.    Well,  perhaps  apparitions;  but  not  ecstasies.    I  was
unaware  of  those  things.    I  didn’t  know  anything  at  all  about
them.    Now  I  have  learned  something.    And  finding  my
daughter  like  that—and  going  to  touch  her—and  she  was  so
rigid—and  going  to  lift  her  up—and  I  couldn’t.    I  said  to
myself,  This  little  girl  is  going  to  die;  she  is  having  an  attack!»

The calleja was a rocky trail leading out from the village.
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««OOnn JJuunnee 2211sstt,, II wwaass iinnffoorrmmeedd tthhaatt ssoommeetthhiinngg
mmiirraaccuulloouuss hhaadd ooccccuurrrreedd iinn mmyy ddiissttrriicctt..  OOnn tthhaatt
ddaayy II hhaadd ggoonnee ttoo ccoonnssuulltt wwiitthh aa ddooccttoorr ooff tthhee
aarreeaa iinn PPuueennttee NNaannssaa..  AAnndd DDrr.. JJoosséé LLuuiiss GGuullllóónn,,
wwhhoo wwaass vveerryy aammaazzeedd,, mmeennttiioonneedd ttoo mmee wwhhaatt hhaadd
jjuusstt bbeeeenn ttoolldd ttoo hhiimm bbyy ttwwoo wwoommeenn wwhhoo hhaadd
ccoommee ddoowwnn ffrroomm GGaarraabbaannddaall,, tthhaatt aann aannggeell hhaadd
aappppeeaarreedd ttoo ffoouurr yyoouunngg ggiirrllss ffrroomm tthhee vviillllaaggee..

II tthhiinnkk tthhaatt aatt tthhee ttiimmee II ffoorrggoott ttoo aasskk tthhee ddoocc-
ttoorr ffoorr tthhee pprreessccrriippttiioonn tthhaatt II nneeeeddeedd ffoorr mmyy eeaarr,,
bbeeccaauussee iitt ssttrruucckk mmee tthhaatt II nnoo lloonnggeerr nneeeeddeedd iitt,,
ssiinnccee II wwaass hheeaarriinngg ppeerrffeeccttllyy wwhhaatt tthhee wwoommeenn hhaadd
iinnffoorrmmeedd hhiimm..  II wweenntt ddiirreeccttllyy ttoo tthhee hheeaaddqquuaarrtteerrss
ooff tthhee CCiivviill GGuuaarrdd aanndd oorrddeerreedd OOffffiicceerr JJoosséé FFeerr-
nnáánnddeezz CCooddeessiiddoo ttoo ggoo uupp ttoo SSaann SSeebbaassttiiáánn aanndd
ccaarreeffuullllyy iinnvveessttiiggaattee eevveerryytthhiinngg tthhaatt hhaappppeenneedd..
OOnn hhiiss rreettuurrnn,, tthhee ooffffiicceerr rreeppoorrtteedd ttoo mmee tthhaatt hhee
hhaadd bbeeeenn wwiitthh eeaacchh ooff tthhee ssuuppppoosseedd vviissiioonnaarriieess
iinnddiivviidduuaallllyy;; aanndd tthhaatt tthheeyy ccooiinncciiddeedd ccoommpplleetteellyy::
tthhaatt tthheeyy hhaappppeenneedd ttoo bbee ppllaayyiinngg mmaarrbblleess aatt tthhee
eennttrraannccee ttoo tthhee ccaalllleejjaa wwhhiicchh iiss nnaammeedd CCaammppuuccaa
SSttrreeeett aanndd tthhaatt ssuuddddeennllyy .. .. ..  

AAfftteerr tthhaatt ddaayy II ffeelltt ssaattiissffiieedd,, aanndd oorrddeerreedd aa

ppaaiirr ooff gguuaarrddss ttoo rreemmaaiinn ppeerrmmaanneennttllyy iinn GGaarraa-
bbaannddaall..  TThhee nneewwss sspprreeaadd tthhrroouugghhoouutt aallll tthhee nneeiigghh-
bboorriinngg ttoowwnnss aanndd eevveerryy ddaayy ppeeooppllee mmaaddee tthhee jjoouurr-
nneeyy ttoo GGaarraabbaannddaall,, wwhhiicchh rreeqquuiirreedd iinnccrreeaassiinngg tthhee
ssiizzee ooff tthhee gguuaarrdd..  SSoooonn tthheerree ccaammee ttoo bbee ccrroowwddss ooff
550000 ttoo 33,,000000 ppeerrssoonnss aa ddaayy..»»

But let us return to Father Valentín.

The good priest must have been so impressed
by what was told him that he had already decided
to go to Santander on June 22nd.(16) to completely
inform the Bishop.  Someone made him hold off,
observing correctly, Why don't you wait to see for
yourself what's going on?  Surely something will
happen this evening and then later you can give a

16.  Although I cannot give the exact date that Father Valentín
went to Santander to inform his superior, I know that Ceferino
Mazón, the father of Loli, went with him as a civil official of the
village, accompanied by two other men of some importance in the
area: the indiano Eustaquio Cuenca and the professor Manín.  (The
term indiano is generally given in Spain to emigrants who have
returned from America after having made their fortune there.)

Father Valentín spoke alone behind closed doors with Bishop
Doroteo Fernández.  After listening to him, the bishop said that
for the moment, obviously, there was only one thing to do:
Watch and wait.

Fr. Valentín (arrow) was the first priest to see an ecstasy.
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better report about everything.  Thanks to this in-
telligent observation, that Thursday, the day of the
week dedicated to the Eucharist, which in 1961
had more daylight time than any other day in the
year, was the first to have a priest in the calleja at
Garabandal as a witness of the communication
that God seemed to want established from on high
with men.

At the usual time of the evening, at 8:30, Te
lucis ante terminum, fervent prayer rose up from
the community on the stony path to the pines, a
path that was already radiating the miraculous.  A
calm fell on the surrounding plains, and spread
through the ravines to the mountains above.  The
soft fragrance of summer, the scent of fields in
bloom and new-cut hay pervaded the air.(17)

Around the girls gathered an assembly of almost
all the people in the village, presided over by its
pastor.  One by one the beads of the rosary were
counted out with the thrill of expectation . . .  And at
last the ecstasy of the girls!

This is certain! Shouts of enthusiasm mixed
with sighs of emotion.

But not all resistance was vanquished.  Among
the onlookers was a certain Professor Manín.(18)

Surely out of a desire for more complete informa-
tion, this man took the girls to a neighbor's house
after the ecstasy to interrogate them tenaciously
about what they had seen.  Some of the people got 

17.  Planting and harvesting hay is a principal occupation
for the peasants in the mountains, who gain their living mainly
from their cows.  The countryside of the whole Santander
region, not only the area near Garabandal, is almost a con-
tinual succession of fields of hay and woods of Eucalyptus.
During those June days to which we are referring, the hay
harvest was in full swing.

18. This professor was in San Sebastián tutoring the son of
an indiano of the village.  His name was Manín or Manuco (a
nickname of Manuel).  He recently lived in Santander.

the idea that he had prepared the girls for their
visions in the Calleja; the Civil Guards were sus-
picious of him, and even considered throwing him
in jail.(19)  

On that Thursday evening, Fr. Valentín was
satisfied with being no more than a witness.  But on
the next day, June 23rd, he began to act as the per-
son mainly responsible for what was happening.

At the same time of the evening there was an
ecstasy in the Calleja again after the usual prayers.
But the number of onlookers had increased marked-
ly, since the news of what was occurring in San
Sebastián had already traveled to the surrounding
villages: Cossío, Puente Nansa, Rozadío.(20)

The ecstasy finished, the people showed their
feelings by rushing to embrace the girls.

TThhaatt ddaayy tthhee gguuaarrddss ddiidd nnoott wwaanntt tthhee
pprrooffeessssoorr ttoo ttaakkee uuss ffoorr qquueessttiioonniinngg..

WWee wweenntt wwiitthh tthhee ppaarriisshh pprriieesstt ttoo
tthhee cchhuurrcchh ssaaccrriissttyy wwhheerree hhee qquueess-
ttiioonneedd uuss,, ccaalllliinngg uuss iinn oonnee bbyy oonnee,, ttoo
sseeee iiff wwee aaggrreeeedd..

The examination must have completely satisfied
Father Valentín, since on coming out into the
courtyard with the girls, he said to the people
waiting there:

UUpp ttoo nnooww eevveerryytthhiinngg sseeeemmss ttoo bbee
ccoommiinngg ffrroomm GGoodd..

19.  The police chief mentions in his memoirs:

«In tthe vvillage tthere wwas aa tteacher oor pprofessor wwho hhad
come tto ggive llessons oon aassigned ccourses tto tthe sson oof tthe
indiano TTaquio. (Eustaquio CCuenca) And tthe tteacher aaccom-
panied tthe ggirls dduring tthe aapparitions tto hhear wwhat tthey ssaid,
and tto ttake nnotes.  TThe ppeople bbegan tto ttalk aabout wwhether hhe
was hhypnotizing tthem, aand wwhether hhe wwas ggiving tthem ppills oor
other tthings oof tthat ttype.  OOne dday aafter tthe aapparition, oone oof
my ssergeants iinformed mme tthat tthe tteacher hhad ttaken CConchita
to tthe hhome oof tthe indiano aand tthat iit wwas ttrue wwhat tthe ppeo-
ple wwere ssaying .. .. ..  II wwent iimmediately aand aactually ffound tthe
teacher wwith tthe ggirl iin aa rroom.  II aasked hhim wwhat tthis wwas
about, aand hhe aanswered tthat hhe wwas ddoing wwork ffor FFather
Valentín, ggathering iinformation tthat tthey ccould llater ppresent
in aa rreport tto tthe bbishop.»

20.  These are all small riverside towns on the banks of the
Nansa River.  Puente Nansa is on the river below Cossío;
Rozadío, on the river above.  This latter town is the ‘Robacio’
of the book ‘Penas Arriba,’ the childhood country of Neluco,
the young and dedicated doctor of the novel.
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We can imagine the happiness of those good
people.  How could God have so distinguished Gar-
abandal?  What did He want from us?  From now
on people will look with envy on the village which
up to now they had regarded with pity.

*   *   *

The first Saturday since the beginning of events
had come, falling on the last Saturday of that
memorable month of June.  Would something special
happen on that day of the week especially con-
secrated to the Virgin?  Would only an angel come
without speaking?  Or would he bring something
from her, who was so much invoked there with the
petition of the Hail Mary and the salutations of the
Litany of Loretto!

During the first hours of the afternoon, the road
going up to Garabandal saw a continual passage of
people who were coming to the village in search of —
they themselves could not even say.  It took more
than curiosity to make them come up the road per-
spiring and exhausted.  Many of them were peasants
who had left their urgent work in the middle of the
hay harvest.  But that which was said to be taking
place at Garabandal was more important than all
those pressing occupations.  Nothing like this had
ever occurred around here before, and besides . . .
why lose the chance?

When the girls, aaccccoommppaanniieedd bbyy tthhee ppeeoo-
ppllee,, arrived at the usual place, they met many
strangers wwhhoo hhaadd ccoommee iinn aaddvvaannccee ttoo ttaakkee
aa ppllaaccee aanndd sseeee uuss bbeetttteerr..

There wasn't time to start the rosary.  The Angel
appeared immediately, and the four girls were
enraptured away from everything around them.
They were alone with the Angel in the splendor of
something wonderful.  

Then they noticed something new about him.
He continued gazing on them with a smile; he was
still silent.  But below the Angel today was writing
that had some unknown meaning.  The first line
started, HHAAYY QQUUEE .. .. .. and below was seen a
series of capital letters, that the girls later learned
were Roman numerals, designating a date.(21)

WWee aasskkeedd hhiimm wwhhaatt tthhiiss mmeeaanntt,, aanndd hhee
ssmmiilleedd .. .. ..  bbuutt hhee ddiiddnn''tt tteellll uuss..

WWhheenn tthhee aappppaarriittiioonn wwaass oovveerr,, tthhee
yyoouunngg mmeenn ooff tthhee vviillllaaggee ttooookk uuss aawwaayy

iinn aa ccaarrtt,, ssoo tthhaatt tthhee ppeeooppllee wwoouulldd nnoott
ccrruusshh uuss,, aanndd ssoo tthheeyy wwoouulldd nnoott kkiissss uuss..

TThheeyy ttooookk uuss ttoo tthhee cchhuurrcchh,, aanndd FFaatthheerr
VVaalleennttíínn,, tthhee ppaarriisshh pprriieesstt,, ttooookk uuss iinnttoo
tthhee ssaaccrriissttyy oonnee bbyy oonnee ssoo tthhaatt wwee wwoouulldd
tteellll hhiimm wwhhaatt hhaadd hhaappppeenneedd..

The pastor was anxious to assemble the greatest
number of facts in order to bring an early and com-
plete report to his Bishop.  The apparition on that
Saturday held particular interest because of the
writing, which might be the key to the solution of
the strange mystery of the calleja; but the girls
were not in a position to satisfy the understandable
curiosity of the priest.  Absorbed in the contempla-
tion of the Angel, who was above every wonder of
this world, they had not understood the Roman
numerals.  And they had paid little attention to the
strange writing which the Angel himself had
refused for the moment to explain.(22)

El CCuadro
As can be imagined, on the next day, Sunday, the

last Sunday of June and the octave of the first
phenomenon of the Calleja, the village was crammed 

21.  An article in the French edition of Conchita’s Diary
relates:

In aa lletter wwritten tto MMr. WWilliam AA. NNolan oof IIllinois
(U.S.A.) CConchita ddescribes tthis iin tthe ffollowing wwords:

«The ffirst ttimes tthat wwe ssaw hhim, hhe ddidn’t ssay aanything
to uus, uup uuntil tthe ffirst oof JJuly.  BBefore tthe ffirst oof JJuly, hhe 
carried ssome wwriting aat hhis ffeet, bbut wwe ddidn’t uunderstand
what iit mmeant.  TThe wwords tthat wwe uunderstood wwere tthese:

On tthe ffirst lline: ""There mmust .. .. .."
And oon tthe llast lline: ""XVIII-MMCMLXI".
This iis wwhat wwe uunderstood.»

This is an allusion, as will be brought forth later on, to the
message of October 18th, 1961.

22.  In October of 1975, I questioned Jacinta:
—The iinscription tthat tthe AAngel ccarried aat hhis ffeet oon tthose

days—was iit ddifficult tto rread, oor ccould yyou rread iit cclearly?
—I hhardly rremember.  WWhat II ddo rrecall iis tthat tthe rrow oof

capital lletters —— wwhose mmeaning wwe ddidn’t uunderstand ——
greatly aattracted oour aattention.  LLater tthey ttold uus tthat tthese
were RRoman NNumerals.

—You ddidn’t uunderstand wwhat tthe wwriting mmeant wwhen yyou
saw iit.  DDid tthe AAngel ggive yyou ssome eexplanation?

—No, iit wwas tthe VVirgin wwho eexplained iit tto uus llater.
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with pilgrims, among them tthhee sscchhooooll tteeaacchheerr
ffrroomm CCoossssííoo,,(23) (I do not know why Conchita
mentions him so specifically) ffiivvee pprriieessttss,,(24) some
of whom ddiidd nnoott bbeelliieevvee,, and mmaannyy ddooccttoorrss..
The atmosphere in San Sebastián on that beautiful
day in June was like a holiday.  And the people
ccoonnttiinnuueedd ttoo bbee eexxcciitteedd..

And it was not without reason.

When the sun declined over the horizon, the
whole mass of people came together around the now
illustrious location of the calleja.  Previously the
village people had built a barrier there with wooden
logs tied together with cords to protect the girls.(25)

Because of its square form, it immediately received
the name El Cuadro, a word which would come
forth many times in the history of Garabandal.
Thanks to this bulwark of defense, the girls were
able to meet their vision without disturbance, away
from the danger of the thoughtless, although
explainable, avalanches of the crowd.  And it also
made it easy for those to be at their side who had
more of a right or more of a reason to be there:  their
parents, their brothers and sisters, the doctors, and
the priests.

It began as usual with the recitation of the
rosary.  And the Angel did not fail his appointment
with the girls, nor the expectation of the multitude.

TThhaatt ddaayy,, wwhhiillee II wwaass sseeeeiinngg tthhee AAnnggeell,,
oouurr ffaammiillyy ddooccttoorr(26) ggrraabbbbeedd mmee,, lliifftteedd
mmee uupp,, aanndd lleett mmee ffaallll ffrroomm aa hheeiigghhtt ooff
aabboouutt aa mmeetteerr..  

AAnndd oonn hhiittttiinngg tthhee ggrroouunndd,, mmyy kknneeeess
mmaaddee aa ssoouunndd aass iiff tthheeyy wweerree bbrrookkeenn..

MMyy bbrrootthheerr wwaanntteedd ttoo ssttoopp hhiimm ffrroomm
ddooiinngg tthhiiss,, bbuutt aa ffoorrccee iinnssiiddee hhiimm kkeepptt
hhiimm bbaacckk..

23.  This teacher was still teaching in the same school in
1970; his name is José Gallego.

24.  Father Pedro Gómez from Puente Nansa (a former
Jesuit, now no longer a priest); Fr. Juan González Gómez (a
native of Garabandal); Fr. Arsenio Quintanal from Celís,
Father Alfonso Cobián of Rivadesella, accompanied by a Do-
minican priest.  Father Juan González Gómez was later named
pastor of Puente Nansa.  After August 20th, 1972, he began
coming to San Sebastián de Garabandal for religious services
on Tuesdays, Fridays and Sundays.

25.  According to the notes of Police Chief Juan A. Seco, this
protective barrier had been constructed on the previous day,
Saturday, June 25th.

26.  Doctor José Luis Gullón, resident of Puente Nansa.

II wwaass uunnaawwaarree ooff aallll tthhiiss bbuutt tthhee ppeeooppllee
ttoolldd mmee aabboouutt iitt llaatteerr..(27)

WWhheenn tthhee aappppaarriittiioonn wwaass oovveerr,, tthhee
ppeeooppllee wweerree vveerryy eexxcciitteedd aanndd tthheeyy aallll
wwaanntteedd ttoo sseeee mmyy kknneeeess..

AAnndd II ddiiddnn''tt kknnooww wwhhyy..(28)

From the Cuadro, the girls and many other per-
sons went to the church, there to piously conclude
with a prayer to the Blessed Sacrament what they
had experienced in the Calleja with such emotion.

The girls then went into the church sacristy
wwhheerree tthheerree wweerree ddooccttoorrss aanndd pprriieessttss
who assaulted them with questions that they an-
swered with the ingenuous calmness of normal,
honest country girls possessing quick intelligence,
if poor education.

The result: SSoommee ooff tthhee pprriieessttss ddiiddnn''tt
bbeelliieevvee;; ssoommee ddiidd..

And who would wonder?  In the first place, it
was still too soon to take a definite position.  And
secondly, the affairs of God are never convincing
from the start, nor do they overcome all resistance
right away.  How were the sermons of Jesus re-
ceived?  And what were St. Paul's experiences in
preaching the Gospel to the Jewish communities
that he met on his apostolic journeys?  A revealing
fact was stated at the end of the mission work of
Paul and Barnabas in Antioch of Pisidia: And aas
many aas wwere oordained tto llife eeverlasting bbelieved. (Acts 13: 48)

Besides there was no obligation to believe in this
Garabandal affair; it was not a requirement to be in
God's good graces.  Here the question was above all
to be more or less open to the unknown, to be spiri-
tually receptive.

It was also on that Sunday night of June 25th 

27.  During the ecstasies, the insensibility of the visionaries
was total.  They neither saw nor felt anything that was outside
of their field of view . . .  And their field of view was completely
removed from the spectators.

28.  Juan A. Seco confirms the episode of the doctor force-
fully lifting up Conchita and added:

«When iit wwas oover aand tthe ggirl wwas eexamined, tthe mmarks
from tthe ffall wwere cclearly sseen; aand aalso tthe mmarks ffrom tthe
pinching, sscratching aand ppunching, wwhich aas aa fform oof ttest,
some hhad ddone tto tthe vvisionary wwithout hher sshowing tthe lleast
reaction oof ppain.  SShe ddidn’t nnotice aany oof tthese tthings aand
none ccaused hher ppain; oonly tthe ssigns rremained.»
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that there began to appear — for the first time, I
believe — a certain explanation that would go on to
spread and which would play an important and
deplorable role throughout the history of the
events.  It is almost lost in some lines from Con-
chita's diary:  

TThhee tteeaacchheerr ffrroomm CCoossssííoo wwaass tthheerree;;
bbuutt tthhaatt ddaayy hhee ddiiddnn''tt bbeelliieevvee,, aanndd ssaaiidd,,

——EEvveerryytthhiinngg wwaass aa ffaarrccee..
AAnndd hhee ssaaiidd ttoo mmyy bbrrootthheerr,,
——YYoouurr ssiisstteerr ppuuttss oonn aa ggoooodd aacctt!!

Yes, the four village girls, with a mentality (due
to their remote isolation) of 8 or 9 year old children,
who had never seen a motion picture, a television
program, or a theater play, showed themselves right
away such formidable actresses that during months
and even years they were able to deceive thousands
of people from Spain and foreign lands, among
whom were hundreds of priests, doctors, lawyers,
engineers, writers, and newspaper men.  How un-
seeing must our show producers be not to have
offered contracts to the girls that could have been
for them a profitable venture.(29)

When all the turmoil of that unforgettable after-
noon had ended, the four girls came upon another
surprise:

WWee llooookkeedd aatt oouurr lleeggss,, aanndd tthheeyy wweerree
ffuullll ooff ppuunnccttuurreess aanndd mmaarrkkss ffrroomm tthhoossee
wwhhoo ssccrraattcchheedd uuss..

BBuutt tthheeyy ddiiddnn''tt hhuurrtt uuss,, aalltthhoouugghh tthhee
mmaarrkkss wweerree tthheerree..(30)

29.  There came forward at that time the explanation—very
easy to mention, but so difficult to prove that up to the present
no one has done so—that all this was an effect of some disease
or abnormality of the visionaries.  Police Chief Alvarez Seco
wrote down:

«The ddoctor iin ccharge oof tthe ddistrict, DDoctor JJosé LLuis
Gullón ssaid tthat tthese wwere sseizures aand ddiseases, tthat aall tthat
was hhappening wwas ddue tto aan iillness tthat tthe ggirls hhad.  HHe
never ssaid wwhat iillness iit wwas.  BBut II ccould ssee tthat tthey wwere iin
good hhealth, tthat eeach dday tthey wwere llooking bbetter aand mmore
healthy, wwhile ttheir ffamilies, pparents, ssisters aand bbrothers ggave
the aappearance oof eexhaustion aand ttheir ffaces cclearly sshowed
the llack oof ssleep aand rrest.»

30.  Father Ramón María Andreu (with the authorization of
the Santander chancery and his own superiors) was one of the
exceptional witnesses of the events of Garabandal.  He
compiled a report of exceptional value, and in it he points this
out about the ecstasies of the children:

At LLast tthe AAngel
Speaks

As if it was necessary for everyone to recu-
perate from all the frenzy and excitement of the
previous days, on Monday (June 26th) and Tuesday
(June 27th) tthheerree wwaass nnoo aappppaarriittiioonn.. And
what was worse, the girls began to fear that every-
thing had ended.

WWee wweerree vveerryy ssaadd,, ssiinnccee wwee tthhoouugghhtt
tthhaatt wwee wwoouulldd nneevveerr aaggaaiinn sseeee aannyytthhiinngg..

Nevertheless the entire reason for the Angel's
coming was to communicate what was contained in
the writing seen on the last few days; but the girls
had not given this the least attention.  The letdown
and the bitter reaction of disgust, which manifested
itself in threatening words from the large crowd
that had gone up on those two days with desires of
seeing something, contributed to augmenting the
unfortunate girls' dejection.  No more than prayers
had taken place in the calleja.  And the crowd had
not come precisely to pray.  They went home say-
ing, IItt''ss oobbvviioouuss!!  SSiinnccee tthheerree aarree mmaannyy ooff uuss
aanndd tthhee ppeeooppllee iinn GGaarraabbaannddaall aarree nnoott uusseedd
ttoo tthhiiss,, tthheeyy ddiiddnn''tt ddaarree ttoo ddoo tthhoossee tthhiinnggss
iinn ffrroonntt ooff uuss!!

The four girls continued doing their work as
usual, going to school, and visiting the Blessed
Sacrament; but they could not hide the suffering
that they carried within.

Their suffering must have been plainly evident,
since the good people of the village felt it necessary 

«The aanesthesia tto ppain aappears ccomplete.  BBesides tthe ttests
that wwere ddone oon tthem, llike ppricking tthem, II hhave sseen tthem
fall hhard oon ttheir kknees wwithout aany ssign oof ppain.

What iimpressed mme tthe mmost iin tthis rregard wwas wwhen II ssaw
Loli ssmack hher hhead hhard aagainst aa cconcrete wwalk.  TThe nnoise
was ffearful; tthose ppresent rreacted bby lletting oout sscreams; bbut
the yyoung ggirl, ssitting oon tthe gground, ssmiled aand sspoke wwith tthe
Vision.  OOn rreturning tto nnormal, wwe aasked hher iif sshe hhad ffelt aany
pain.  SShe ddidn’t rremember aany ssmack oon hher hhead.  SShe ssaid
that ccould hhave ooccurred wwhen sshe ffelt ssomething llike aa ccramp
over hher wwhole bbody, bbut wwithout aany ppain.  NNevertheless, tthere
was aa bbruise oon hher hhead aat tthe pplace oof tthe  iinjury.»
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to console them.  Wednesday, June 28th was an or-
dinary school day.

WWhheenn wwee ggoott oouutt,, tthhee ppeeooppllee iinn tthhee
vviillllaaggee,, sseeeeiinngg uuss ssoo ssaadd,, wweepptt aanndd kkiisssseedd
uuss ssaayyiinngg::

PPrraayy vveerryy mmuucchh ssoo tthhaatt hhee wwiillll rree-
ttuurrnn!! 

WWhheenn eevveenniinngg ccaammee,, wwee wweenntt ttoo tthhee
ccaalllleejjaa aanndd ddiidd aass uussuuaall..

TThhee ppeeooppllee pprraayyeedd tthhee rroossaarryy wwiitthh
mmoorree ffaaiitthh tthhaann eevveerr ssoo tthhaatt hhee wwoouulldd
aappppeeaarr ttoo uuss..

AAnndd oonn ffiinniisshhiinngg tthhee lliittaannyy,, hhee aapp-
ppeeaarreedd ttoo uuss aanndd ccaammee ssmmiilliinngg mmoorree
tthhaann eevveerr..

The girls pleaded with many questions, asking
above all for him to tell them why he had come.
They obtained only smiles.(31) That is, they re-
ceived no clarification; but such happiness that the
duration of the ecstasy which was an hour, from

9:00 to 10:00 at night, seemed to them aa mmiinnuuttee
oorr lleessss::  SSoo hhaappppyy wweerree wwee wwiitthh hhiimm..

The Angel did not make his visit to the girls on
Thursday the 29th or on Friday, the 30th.(32)

·  ··  ··  ··  ··
Faustino González was a cattle raiser and shep-

herd who lived in the old town of Obeso in the
district of Rio Nansa on top of a hill where the
ancient tower of the former lords of the area can be
seen.  However, he went many times to the moun-
tains of Garabandal, for he had a cabin there sur-
rounded by pastures for cattle grazing.

The things that were happening in the village at
the time were naturally the subject of conversation
between Faustino and the other men who lived in
the neighboring barns.  On the 29th of June, the last
Thursday of the month and a feastday (Sts. Peter
and Paul), they decided to go see what was happen-
ing.  They were a group of ten or eleven, and by
their crude dress and manner of traveling they ap-
peared to be coming more to ridicule than to seek 

31.  Many people find the procedure in apparitions strange.
The ways of God are not easily understood.  Bernadette
Soubirous, the visionary at Lourdes, (the Garabandal children
knew nothing of Lourdes) said to P. Gondrand in a letter in
1861, "She didn’t say a word until the third time she appeared
to me."  And at Lourdes there were many fewer apparitions
than at Garabandal.

32.  Perhaps it was during the apparitions on this day, the
last Friday of the month of the Sacred Heart, that Jacinta saw
Our Lord «standing oon wwhat aappeared tto bbe aa llittle wwhite
cloud, sshowing aa bbright rred hheart oon tthe lleft sside oof HHis cchest,
from wwhich wwhite aand ggold rrays iirradiated.» He did not
speak to the girl.  But with a gesture of His left hand, He
presented her His heart, while motioning with His right hand
for her to come near.  Jacinta obeyed, and was overwhelmed
by the beauty and splendor of His garments, and even more by
His person . . . His brilliance was much superior to that which
she had seen in the Angel, and even superior to that which she
would later see in the Virgin.

Jacinta’s vision took place in the Calleja, while her three
companions, kneeling at her side, were looking at St. Michael.
The vision lasted only, (or so it seemed to her) a few moments,
but it left an indelible impression on her, although she kept
completely silent about it for many years.

In the vision, two things especially impressed her: Jesus’
look, and His majestic bearing.

His glance penetrated to the depths of her soul.  She could
not bear it for a long time!  Nevertheless, the Lord’s look
«was ffull oof iimmense llove.»

As for His supremely majestic bearing, it should not be
forgotten that Jesus is The Lord, before Whom every kknee sshould
bend oof tthose iin tthe hheavens, oon eearth, aand uunder tthe eearth.   (Phil. 2: 9-10)

Typical village setting
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devotion.  It could hardly have come into their
minds that heaven would concern itself with in-
significant creatures like the children of Aniceta,
Ceferino, Simón and Escolástico.

In the village the people gathered at the Calleja
at the usual hour, as the sun set beyond the
horizon.  Our herdsmen did not neglect to take an
early place in the first row; thus they could ob-
serve what was going on at their leisure.

That day an old woman from the village
started to lead the rosary.  The girls took their
normal place within the Cuadro.  And for a
while the prayer continued without anything
happening; it seemed that the Angel was in no
hurry.  Our men, who had not come there strictly
to pray, lacking better entertainment, amused
themselves by watching the old woman who was
leading the prayer.  Her face showed such
compunction, such devotion, such an appearance
that it made them howl with laughter. But their
laugh froze abruptly; for suddenly with a quick
seizure and a sharp thrust of their heads
upwards, the four girls left their normal state.

««TToo sseeee tthhaatt ttrraannssffoorrmmaattiioonn,, wwhhiillee wwaattcchhiinngg 

tthheeiirr ffaacceess»» — later confessed Faustino González
to Dr. Ortiz of Santander — ««wwee eexxppeerriieenncceedd ssuucchh
eemmoottiioonn tthhaatt tteeaarrss ppoouurreedd oouutt ffrroomm uuss,, eevveenn
tthhoouugghh wwee wweerree hhaarrdd aass ssttoonnee..»»

The return to the barns in the warm air of the
night was made in a much different manner than
the going.  When they gathered together again in
the cabin, they could talk about nothing else except
what they had seen and heard.  Sleep did not come;
and then one of them suggested that they stop talk-
ing and pray the rosary, even though it would be no
more than a reparation for the offense to God and
the Virgin caused by their foolishness in mocking
what was going on.

They all accepted the idea well — for one time
their inveterate human respect did not matter —
and in the solitude of the mountain night, with the
light accompaniment of mooing from cows, the
stable heard for the first time or as never before,
a rosary from men who had felt near at hand the
unexplainable presence of God.

That night must have left its mark on the herds-
men since a month and a half later when Celestino

Left to right: Mari Cruz, Conchita, Jacinta, Loli in trance
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Ortiz made his first trip up to Garabandal, he was
««pplleeaassaannttllyy ssuurrpprriisseedd bbyy tthhee aattttiittuuddee wwiitthh wwhhiicchh
tthhoossee rruussttiicc mmeenn pprraayyeedd tthhee rroossaarryy iinn tthhee ssttrreeeettss,,
aass tthheeyy aaccccoommppaanniieedd tthhee ggiirrllss wwiitthh tthheeiirr hheeaaddss
rreessppeeccttffuullllyy uunnccoovveerreedd..»» He spoke about this
with one of them, and received this response:

««TThhoossee ooff uuss wwhhoo ggrraazzee ccaattttllee iinn tthhee mmoouunnttaaiinnss
ccoommee ddoowwnn ttoo tthhee vviillllaaggee oonn SSaattuurrddaayyss ttoo pprraayy tthhee
rroossaarryy wwiitthh tthhee ggiirrllss..  WWee ttaakkee ccaarree ooff tthhee ccaattttllee
eeaarrlliieerr tthhaann oonn ootthheerr ddaayyss ssoo tthhaatt rroossaarriieess lliikkee
tthheessee wwoonn''tt bbee mmiisssseedd..  TThheeyy aarree wwoorrtthh aa tthhoouussaanndd
ooff tthhoossee wwee''vvee ssaaiidd bbeeffoorree iinn tthhee cchhuurrcchh..

——IIssnn''tt tthhaatt aa lliittttllee eexxaaggggeerraatteedd??

——NNoo,, ddooccttoorr..  NNoo..  IInn tthhee cchhuurrcchh wwee aarree
ddiissttrraacctteedd mmaannyy ttiimmeess;; bbuutt hheerree wwee pprraayy aanndd ggoo
oonn tthhiinnkkiinngg..»»

·  ··  ··  ··  ··
The month of July came.  Its first day fell on

a Saturday.

TThhaatt ddaayy mmaannyy ppeeooppllee ccaammee;; ssiinnccee iitt
wwaass tthhee VViirrggiinn''ss ddaayy..

PPeerrhhaappss sshhee wwoouulldd aappppeeaarr ttoo uuss..

In the Cuadro at the usual hour, the girls were
counting out the Ave Marías on their rosaries, ac-
companied by the waiting multitude.  And finally
the Angel came.  But this time he did not limit
himself to smiling.  This time, finally HE SPOKE!
And his most important words were these:

II ccoommee ttoo aannnnoouunnccee ttoo yyoouu aa vviissiitt bbyy
tthhee VViirrggiinn uunnddeerr tthhee ttiittllee ooff OOuurr LLaaddyy ooff
MMoouunntt CCaarrmmeell,, wwhhoo wwiillll aappppeeaarr ttoo yyoouu
ttoommoorrrrooww,, SSuunnddaayy..

Outside of themselves with joy, the four girls
cried out together:

LLeett hheerr ccoommee rriigghhtt aawwaayy!!

The Angel smiled.

Finally, the reason for so many repeated visits by

“I come to announce to you a visit by the Virgin under the title of Our Lady of Mount Carmel.”
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the mysterious celestial personage appeared clear:
He had come to prepare the way.

And it could well be supposed that what he was
preparing, what was about to come, was extremely
important, since the introduction had been so
long and intensive.

The girls, overjoyed with the great announce-
ment that they had just received, conversed happily
with that person whom they had seen so many times
but to whom they had never yet spoken.  

There was so much that they had to ask and say.
And the Angel was in a mood to speak without
restriction too.  Conchita wrote later, TThhaatt ddaayy hhee
ssppookkee ttoo uuss aabboouutt mmaannyy tthhiinnggss.. The main
part of these things will remain forever secret, since
they were only of interest to those who were
involved in that conversation.  The Angel had come
undoubtedly for all, or at least for many; but before
all for those four young girls over whom surely the
Lord held special plans of love and mercy.

The visionaries recalled with the apparition the
various happenings and the most striking things that 

had occurred during the previous meetings; for ex-
ample, the fear that Loli, Jacinta, and Mari Cruz had
felt on the first day when they saw Conchita swept up
like a victim of an attack.  While recounting this, now
that everything had become clear, the girls laughed
boisterously with the Angel.  After so many meetings
and so many hours shared together, a pleasant fam-
iliarity existed among tthhee ffiivvee..

The most important question was related to the
mysterious writing that the Angel had brought on
the last days.  He answered:

—TThhee VViirrggiinn wwiillll tteellll yyoouu aabboouutt iitt..

As in so many other things, it was necessary to
wait.  God brings everything with order; He has a
rhythm which rarely coincides with ours, and
which therefore so many times upsets us.

The Saturday interview on July 1st, the final in-
terview of that first stage, lasted ttwwoo hhoouurrss; but it
must have been stupendous to the girls—as Con-
chita stated—it seemed like ttwwoo sseeccoonnddss.  The
parting was:

—— II wwiillll ccoommee ttoommoorrrrooww wwiitthh tthhee

“He spoke to us about many things.”

“The Virgin will tell you about it.”
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VViirrggiinn..
TThhaatt mmaaddee uuss ssaadd..

Returning to normal, the visionaries were
extremely surprised on seeing night around
them, since they had come from a world flooded
with brightness.  

The people who had heard the long conver-
sations in ecstasy crowded on top of them, asking
them what had happened and what had been said
to them.  And the girls explained what they could,
as well as they could.  Their poor village vocabu-
lary and undeveloped expression were not suited
to speak of things about which even the most
highly educated minds would find great difficulty
in discussing.

With this in mind, we can better understand
how to interpret the description that they repea-
tedly gave of the Angel:

HHee wwaass ddrreesssseedd iinn aa lloonngg fflloowwiinngg bblluuee
ttuunniicc wwiitthhoouutt aa bbeelltt..

HHiiss wwiinnggss aarree rraatthheerr lloonngg,, vveerryy lloovveellyy,,
ppiinnkk iinn ccoolloorr..

HHiiss ffaaccee wwaass nneeiitthheerr lloonngg oorr rroouunndd;; hhiiss
nnoossee wwaass hhaannddssoommee;; hhiiss eeyyeess ddaarrkk;; aanndd
tthhee ffaaccee ttaann..

HHiiss hhaannddss wweerree ffiinnee wwiitthh sshhoorrtt nnaaiillss;;
hhiiss ffeeeett wweerreenn''tt sseeeenn..

This description does not clash with the tradi-
tional representation of the angels in our Catholic
Church; but it does not appear to say much.  The
most interesting thing the girls expressed about
the Angel was that, in spite of his appearance as a
child, they said: ««HHee ggaavvee tthhee iimmpprreessssiioonn ooff ggrreeaatt
ssttrreennggtthh..»» Yes, the Angels of the Lord, although
they can adopt a  chi ldl ike appearance to  

show the complete innocence of their being, are
creatures of a higher nature, full of strength and
light, close to the All High, and powerful executors
of His commands.(33)

What orders did the Angel come to accomplish
among men in the Calleja at Garabandal?

At present he was preparing the way . . .

Someone wwas ggoing tto ccome!

33.  Years later, how did the visionaries recall the Angel’s
series of apparitions at Garabandal?  I was able to interview
Jacinta in October, 1975.  Here are some of the questions and
answers:

—What iimpression ddid tthe AAngel mmake oon yyou?  DDid hhe
seem ssimply aa hhandsome cchild, oor ssomeone iimportant aand
strong wwith aa ggreat mmission?

—I ddon’t kknow hhow tto aanswer tthat qquestion.  HHe aalways
appeared llike aa cchild, aalthough wwe ffelt ggreat rrespect iin ffront
of hhim.

(This means, according to what I understood by her ex-
planations, that in spite of seeing him as someone of youth-
ful age and small stature, she had the impression of being in
the presence of someone very important, much higher than
the girls.)

—How ccould yyou hhave eenjoyed sso mmany hhours wwith hhim iif
he ddidn’t sspeak tto yyou?

(According to Conchita the Angel did not talk until the
afternoon of July 1st.)

—We wwere oonly wwith hhim aa sshort ttime.  IIt ppassed sswiftly.

—That wwas yyour iimpression.  BBut tthe wwitnesses sstated tthat
your eecstasies aat tthat ttime ssometimes llasted vvery llong.

—It ccould bbe tthat wway.  II oonly rremember tthat wwe ppassed
them vvery wwell; tthe ttime sseemed vvery sshort tto uus, sseeing
him .. .. ..  WWe wwere tthe oones wwho sspoke.  SSometimes wwe ttold hhim
things, aand oother ttimes wwe aasked hhim qquestions.  TThen hhe
answered uus wwith ssigns aand ggestures.  FFor eexample, iif wwe
would ssay, ""Do yyou wwant uus tto ppray mmore," hhe wwould iincline
his hhead aas iif tto ssay ""Yes."  IIt wwas tthe ssame wwhen wwe aasked,
"What ddo yyou wwant ffrom uus .. .. ..  TThat wwe sshould bbe bbetter?"
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